


4, Defendant Megan Corp. is an Oklahoma corporation with its principal place of
business in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

5. Defendant Arrow Truck Real Estate Company is an Oklahoma corporation with
its principal place of business in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

6. Defendant Carol Pielsticker is an individual residing in Oklahoma. She is a direct
or indirect owner of Arrow Trucking and is, or was until recently, a director and chairman of
Arrow Trucking.

7. Defendant James Douglas Pielsticker (“Doug Pielsticker”) is an individual
residing in Oklahoma. He is, or was until recently, the President, Chief Executive Officer, and a
director of Arrow Trucking. He is also the President of Piel Corporation and the son of Carol
Pielsticker.

8. Defendant Jonathan Moore (“Moore™) is an individual residing in Oklahoma. He
is, or was until recently, the Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of Arrow Trucking.

9. Defendant Joseph Mowry (“Mowry”) is an individual residing in Oklahoma. He
is, or was until recently, the Secretary and General Counsel of Arrow Trucking.

10.  Other persons not yet identified are believed to be past or present officers,
directors, employees or control persons of Arrow Trucking who knew of and/or participated in
the fraudulent acts alleged below, who owed fiduciary duties and duties of loyalty to Arrow
Trucking and to its creditors, or who furthered the fraudulent acts or engaged in self-dealing as
alleged below, or who are directors who authorized unlawful dividends. TAB intends to amend
this Complaint to add such persons as defendants when their identities become known.

11. Subject matter jurisdiction is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1332(a).

12. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(a) and (b).




13.

General Allegations

TAB and Arrow Trucking entered into an Accounts Receivable Purchase and

Security Agreement effective as of November 10, 2008 (the “A/R Agreement™), a copy of which

is attached as Exhibit 1.

14.

Pursuant to the A/R Agreement, TAB agreed to purchase from Arrow Trucking

certain accounts receivable owed to Arrow Trucking by third parties.

15.

b.

16.

Under the terms of the A/R Agreement, Arrow Trucking:

represented and warranted that there was no pending or threatened action against
it which might “adversely affect the financial condition, operations, properties or
business of [Arrow Trucking] to perform” its obligations under the A/R
Agreement. (A/R Agreement §15); and

represented that it was a solvent company. (A/R Agreement 415).

To secure payment and performance of its obligations to TAB, Arrow Trucking

granted TAB a “continuing first priority security interest” in all Arrow Trucking accounts,

general intangibles, inventory, equipment, fixtures, and proceeds. (A/R Agreement 99). TAB

properly perfected its security interest by filing a UCC Financing Statement, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit 11.

17.

On or about December 11, 2008 but effective as of November 10, 2008, TAB and

Arrow Trucking entered into an Addendum to the A/R Agreement (the “Addendum™), a copy of

which is attached as Exhibit 2.

18.

Under the terms of the Addendum, Arrow Trucking:

warranted that each account receivable was “a bona fide obligation of Account
Debtor for the Face Amount and there have been no payments, deductions,
credits, payment terms, or other modifications or reductions in the amount owing
on such Account except as set forth on the face of the invoice.” (Addendum q3);

warranted that “any services performed or goods sold which give rise to [any
account receivable] [would be] rendered or sold and delivered in compliance with



19.

all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations and [would be] performed or
sold in the ordinary course of [Arrow Trucking’s] business” before the invoice for
the receivable would be presented to TAB for payment. (Addendum §3);

represented that before it submitted the account receivable to TAB, it would
ensure there were “no defenses or setoffs to payment of the Account which
[could] be asserted by way of defense or counterclaim against [Arrow Trucking]
or [TAB].” (Addendum 9q3);

warranted that “there [would be] no extensions, modifications, or other
agreements relating to the payment of [any] such [a]ccount except as shown on
the face of the invoice.” (Addendum 93);

acknowledge[d] and [agreed] that it has no right, title or interest whatsoever in the
funds constituting payment of a [pJurchased account, that said funds are the sole
and exclusive property of [TAB], and that any use of or interference with said
funds by [Arrow Trucking] may result in civil and criminal liability.”
(Addendum 95);

covenanted that it would “pay when due all payroll and other taxes....”
(Addendum 92);

represented and warranted that “all financial statements of [Arrow Trucking], and
of any Guarantor submitted to [TAB] shall fairly present the financial condition of
[Arrow Trucking] and any Guarantor as of the date thereof and the results of
operations for the period or periods covered thereby.” (Addendum 92); and

represent[ed] and warrant[ed], that since the date of the most recent financial
statements, there ha[d] been no material or adverse change in the financial

condition of [Arrow Trucking] or any such Guarantor. (Addendum 92).

Defendant Doug Pielsticker, as President and CEO of Arrow Trucking, signed the

A/R Agreement and the Addendum.

20.

Some or all of the representations made by Arrow Trucking set forth above were

false at the time they were made. For example, contrary to the representations made at the time

the A/R Agreement was executed, Arrow Trucking had been sued by a vendor, Michelin North

America, Inc. in Tulsa County, Oklahoma for a substantial amount of damages.

21.

Upon information and belief, the financial statements presented to TAB by Arrow

Trucking were materially inaccurate and false.




22. Upon information and belief, Arrow Trucking was insolvent or on the verge of
being insolvent at the time Arrow Trucking signed the A/R Agreement and the Addendum.

23, On or about November 11, 2008 but effective as of November 10, 2008, Piel
Corporation executed a Continuing Guaranty and Waiver (the “Piel Guaranty™), a copy of which
is attached as Exhibit 3.

24.  Under the terms of the Piel Guaranty, Piel Corporation guaranteed that Arrow
Trucking would comply with all obligations arising out of the A/R Agreement “pursuant to each
and every condition, warranty, representation and covenant contained in the [A/R] Agreement.”
(Piel Guaranty q1).

25.  Piel Corporation entered into the Piel Guaranty to induce TAB to enter into the
A/R Agreement. (Piel Guaranty q1).

26.  Defendant Doug Pielsticker executed the Piel Guaranty as President of Piel
Corporation.

27.  As originally intended and implemented, Arrow Trucking presented invoices to
TAB with the letter “A” at the end of a six-digit invoice number. If Arrow Trucking needed to
make an adjustment to an invoice, Arrow Trucking created a second invoice with the same six-
digit number but containing the letter “B” at the end of the number. In such circumstances, the
Arrow Trucking customer was supposed to pay both the “A” and “B” invoices.

28.  On or about July 2009, TAB noticed some irregularities in the documents Arrow
Trucking submitted in support of its requests for payment. TAB also began to notice that some
customers were remitting an amount less than the amount shown on the “A” invoices submitted

by Arrow Trucking to TAB.




29.  Accordingly, TAB arranged a conference call with Defendant Jonathan Moore to
discuss TAB’s concern. In that conversation, Defendant Moore assured TAB that the “A”
invoices were legitimate. Defendant Moore further informed TAB that the reason the “A”
invoices had not been paid was because it was more difficult to collect the larger amounts
associated with the “A” invoices, and that most of Arrow Trucking’s customers received “master
bills” that often included both “A” and “B” invoices.

30.  When TAB later asked for the customer contact information so that it could
contact customers directly to verify the accuracy of the invoices, Defendants Moore and Mowry
refused and claimed that Arrow Trucking would risk losing future business with any customers
contacted by TAB because they would not want to transact business with a carrier that was
“factoring” its accounts. Upon information and belief, these statements were false and made in
furtherance of the fraud being committed against TAB.

31. On or about September 1, 2009, TAB’s A/R Financing Manager made a personal
call upon Arrow Trucking at its office in Tulsa, Oklahoma to discuss invoice-billing
discrepancies identified through account monitoring activities. During the meeting, Defendants
Moore and Mowry represented that a number of billing errors were made by a billing clerk
which resulted in approximately $1.9 million in “over-billed receivables” being sent to TAB for
funding. Defendants Moore and Mowry further represented that the billing clerk had been
terminated, the problem had been rectified, and new system controls were put into place to
prevent future problems. Arrow Trucking agreed to pay this over-billed amount back to TAB
over a period of twenty business days. Defendants Moore’s and Mowry’s representations were

false when made and intended to further the fraud being committed against TAB.




32. On Séptember 3, 2009, TAB provided a notice of default to Arrow Trucking (the
“Notice of Default”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 4.

33.  On September 14, 2009, Arrow Trucking sent a letter to TAB claiming the default
had been cured (the “Arrow Trucking Response™), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 5. The
representations contained in the Arrow Trucking Response were false when made and intended
by Defendants Moore and Mowry to conceal and further the fraud being committed against
TAB.

34.  On or about September 15, 2009, TAB’s A/R Financing Manager made a second
on-site visit to Arrow Trucking with the intent of calling Arrow Trucking’s customers to verify
A/R balances. Prior to the visit, Defendant Mowry had arranged with TAB’s President to only
call certain accounts and to place all calls through Defendant Moore. Throughout the day,
TAB’s A/R Manager and Defendant Moore placed calls to approximately thirty persons
represented to be Arrow Trucking customers. The customer phone numbers were pulled directly
from Arrow Trucking’s computer system and all of the phone numbers were unique.

35.  During the phone calls, the alleged “customers” fielding the calls confirmed the
Arrow Trucking A/R balances. As more fully discussed below, TAB later learned that the phone
calls were made to Arrow Trucking accomplices purporting to be Arrow Trucking customers,
and that such accomplices had responded falsely to the inquiries.

36.  Between August and December 2009, TAB’s on-going concerns with the Arrow
Trucking relationship led to a number of conference calls and emails between TAB and Arrow
Trucking. The conference calls included Defendants Moore and Mowry. TAB identified
concerns with the Arrow Trucking relationship based upon troubling account trends including

poor invoice aging, a high dilution percentage, significant differences between purchases and




collections, and many “short-paid” receivables. During the phone calls and in emails, Arrow
Trucking continued to conceal the fraudulent activity, including representations that Arrow
Trucking’s poor account trends were the result of a significant increase in revenue stemming
from a longer average length of haul.

37.  During November 2009, Arrow was approaching the credit limit of Twenty-Eight
Million Dollars ($28,000,000) that had been established for the A/R Account. TAB informed
Arrow Trucking that no funding would occur beyond this credit limit.

38.  Despite the economic problems facing Arrow Trucking during the fall of 2009,
Arrow Trucking records indicate that large checks payable to Defendants continued to be issued,
including the following: (A) to Defendant Carol Pielsticker: 8/17/09 for $50,000 and 9/10/09 for
$50,000; (B) to Defendant Doug Pielsticker: 11/6/09 for $20,000; 11/9/09 for $20,000; two
checks on 11/25/09 for $20,000 each; 12/3/09 for $12,000; and 12/15/09 for $20,000; and (C) to
Defendant Joseph Mowry: 11/11/09 for $20,000; 11/17/09 for $20,000; and 11/25/09 for
$20,000.

39. On or about November 23, 2009, Defendants Moore and Mowry flew to Utah to
discuss Arrow Trucking’s relationship with TAB. During the course of the meeting, Defendants
Moore and Mowry provided TAB with Arrow Trucking financial statements, operational
metrics, and other commentary that purportedly supported Arrow Trucking’s recent growth. As
described below, the written and oral information communicated by Defendants Moore and
Mowry in that meeting was materially and knowingly false and inaccurate, and was given in
furtherance of the fraud being committed against TAB.

40. On the morning of Friday, December 11, 2009, TAB again demanded to verify

the accounts receivable data provided by Arrow Trucking. In response, Defendant Moore




provided information to TAB that he claimed to be contact information for several of Arrow
Trucking’s customers and third party payers. When TAB contacted these parties, it learned these
persons were not actually affiliated with payors, and that in some cases, the payors did not exist.

41, In the early afternoon of December 11, 2009, TAB conducted a conference call
with Defendant Mowry. TAB advised Defendant Mowry that TAB suspected Arrow Trucking
had been submitting fraudulent invoices. Defendant Mowry denied any knowledge of fraudulent
invoicing, but told TAB he would personally investigate the issue. This statement was false
when made and was intended by Defendant Mowry to further the fraud being committed against
TAB.

42.  Later on December 11, 2009, Defendant Mowry admitted that Arrow Trucking
had been providing TAB with fraudulent invoices, but that the sole person responsible for this
activity was Defendant Moore. Defendant Mowry told TAB that Arrow Trucking had
terminated Defendant Moore’s employment.

43, Late in the day on December 11, 2009, after Defendant Mowry admitted the
fraud, Defendant Mowry told TAB that, in order for Arrow Trucking to stay in business and
make TAB whole for its losses, Arrow Trucking needed $414,000 to meet payroll and $335,000
to cover fuel for a total cash infusion of $749,000. In response to this request and in order to
avoid a shutdown of Arrow Trucking’s operations that Defendant Mowry represented would
occur without additional funds, TAB agreed to make an “emergency advance” by purchasing
additional invoices in the amount of $749,000 and immediately transferred this amount to Arrow
Trucking.

44,  As additional consideration for TAB’s willingness to make the “emergency

advance” to Arrow Trucking on December 11, 2009, Defendants Doug Pielsticker, Carol




Pielsticker, and Megan Corp. each guaranteed full repayment of the $749,000 advance. A copy
of the Limited and Continuing Guaranty and Waiver by Doug Pielsticker dated December 11,
2009 (the “Doug Pielsticker Guaranty”) is attached as Exhibit 6. A cbpy of the Limited and
Continuing Guaranty and Waiver by Carol Pielsticker dated December 11, 2009 (the “Carol
Pielsticker Guaranty™) is attached as Exhibit 7. A copy of the Limited and Continuing Guaranty
and Waiver by Megan Corp. dated December 11, 2009 (the “Megan Corp. Guaranty™) is attached
as Exhibit 8.

45. On or about December 14, 2009, TAB sent representatives to Arrow Trucking to
determine the outstanding amount of fraudulent invoices and to determine the manner in which
the fraud had been perpetrated. During the course of TAB’s inquiry, Arrow Trucking employees
advised TAB that Arrow Trucking management would determine the amount of cash needed that
day to cover the operational shortfall and would then order the creation of “A” invoices to be
submitted to TAB in the amount necessary to cover the shortfall. After the “A” invoices had
been sold to TAB for a deliberately overstated amount, the invoices would then be rebilled as
“B” invoices and the “B” invoices would be sent to the customers at the correct and much
smaller amounts. The employees further admitted that various management employees were
involved in directing and manipulating the overstated invoices sold to TAB.

46. Between December 11, 2009 and December 16, 2009, Defendants Doug
Pielsticker and Mowry assured TAB that $6 million in cash and approximately $5.5 million in
real property and equipment was available as additional collateral to be pledged on behalf of
Arrow Trucking to cure the fraud and maintain its relationship with TAB. Based upon these
representations, TAB agreed to continue to purchase Arrow Trucking invoices on a daily basis

conditioned upon the following: (A) TAB’s independent verification of the validity of invoices
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submitted; (B) limited to an advance rate of 50% of the face value of the invoices submitted; and
(C) the presentation of a business plan by Arrow Trucking demonstrating its ability to repay the
fraudulent invoices and continue its business operations.

47.  Beginning December 14, 2009 band continuing through the morning of December
18, 2009, TAB advanced to Arrow Trucking approximately $543,000 based upon a reduced
advance rate of 50% of the face value of invoices presented. These funds were used by Arrow
Trucking to cover fuel and other operating expenses.

48.  On Friday December 18, 2009, Defendant Mowry called TAB to advise yet a
second time that despite TAB’s efforts to assist, Arrow Trucking needed additional funds and
that its drivers would be stranded if additional funds were not received. Although Arrow
Trucking had exceeded its credit limit, TAB nevertheless advanced additional credit directly to
Arrow Trucking of approximately $428,000 for driver payroll and made advances to or
otherwise authorized an affiliate to continue selling fuel to Arrow Trucking so that drivers and
equipment would not be stranded across the country and so that they could return home.

49.  As additional consideration for TAB’s willingness to make the second
“emergency advance” to Arrow Trucking for fuel and driver payroll on December 18, 2009,
Defendant Doug Pielsticker guaranteed the additional advance. A copy of the Limited and
Continuing Guaranty and Waiver by Doug Pielsticker (the “Second Doug Pielsticker Guaranty”)
is attached as Exhibit 9.

50. As further consideration and inducement for TAB to make the December 18,
2009 advance, Arrow Trucking’s affiliated company, Arrow Truck Real Estate Company, agreed
to execute and deliver a Warranty Deed conveying title to certain real property located in Tulsa

County, Oklahoma.
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51.  Arrow Trucking and Arrow Truck Real Estate Company provided the following
legal description of the real property to be conveyed:
A tract of ground situated in the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section

Twenty-three (23), Township Nineteen (19) North, Range Twelve (12) East, Tulsa
County, Oklahoma, being more particularly described as follows, to wit:

Beginning at point 200.0 feet East and 400.0 feet North of the Southwest Corner of the
Southeast Quarter of Section 23, said point being on the Easterly property line of
Maybelle Avenue; then East along a line parallel with the South line of Section 23 a
distance of 580.0 feet to a point on the West property line of Jackson Avenue; thence
North along the West property line of Jackson Avenue a distance of 563.5 feet to a point
360.83 feet South of the North line of the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter;
thence West along a line parallel with the South line of Section 23 a distance of 580.0
feet to a point on the East property line of Maybelle Avenue; thence South along said
East property line of Maybelle Avenue a distance of 563.5 feet to the point of Beginning.

(the “Real Property™).

52. TAB made the advance of additional funds to Arrow Trucking as agreed and
submitted a Warranty Deed for execution by Arrow Truck Real Estate Company with a signature
page for witness before a notary public.

53.  Defendant Doug Pielsticker, on behalf of Arrow Truck Real Estate Company,
executed the Warranty Deed and it was returned to TAB, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit
10. The returned Warranty Deed did not, however, contain the notary public signature page.

54.  Upon information and belief, Defendants Doug Pielsticker and Arrow Truck Real
Estate Company, at the direction of Defendant Mowry, intentionally failed to return the notary
page for the purpose of frustrating TAB’s receipt of this additional consideration and in
furtherance of the fraud being committed against TAB.

55. On the morning of Monday, December 21, 2009, Arrow Trucking had exceeded
its credit limit over and above the amounts TAB believed it was exposed for the fraudulent

invoices that had been submitted to TAB.
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56. During the course of a conference call on Monday morning, December 21, 2009,
among TAB, Arrow Trucking, and other Arrow Trucking secured creditors, officers of Arrow
Trucking disclosed that over the past year, Arrow Trucking failed to pay certain payroll tax trust
fund obligations as required by applicable federal and state revenue laws. Arrow Trucking had
appropriated for its own use in excess of Nine Million Dollars ($9,000,000) of withheld federal
income trust fund taxes and both employee and employer shares of Social Security and Medicare
taxes. During this conference call, Arrow Trucking presented a business plan that failed to
demonstrate both an ability to repay the fraud and continue ongoing operations.

57. At noon on December 21, 2009, TAB advised Arrow Trucking that no further
purchases of invoices would be made. Later in the day, reports indicated that Arrow Trucking
employees had been told to park the trucks and that a company meeting had been scheduled the
following morning. Defendants Pielsticker and Mowry failed to return TAB’s calls inquiring
about the company.

58. On December 22, 2009, Arrow Trucking ceased operations and terminated its
employees. Arrow Trucking drivers, who were left stranded around the country without fuel,
were told to abandon the rigs and find their own way back home. On the same day, TAB’s
remote connection to Arrow Trucking’s accounts receivable computer was suddenly and
unexpectedly terminated, leaving TAB unable to respond to customer inquiries and continue
collection of the customer accounts.

59. Knowledge of the fraud being committed against TAB was widespread within
Arrow Trucking and its management team. Irrespective of any direct knowledge and
participation by Defendants Doug Pielsticker and Joseph Mowry that may have occurred prior to

September 2009, an Arrow Trucking employee has confirmed that Defendants Doug Pielsticker
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and Joseph Mowry were informed of the fraud during a meeting that occurred not later than
September 2009.

60. Defendant Moore instructed employees to prepare and submit the fraudulent
invoice reports. After Defendant Moore’s employment had been terminated, Defendant Mowry
instructed the employee to continue submitting fraudulent invoice reports to TAB, including the
amounts by which the invoices were to be inflated.

61. The books and records of Arrow Trucking confirm that it engaged in a fraudulent
practice of reporting inflated accounts receivable amounts to TAB for payment.

62. At the direction of Defendants Moore, Mowry and others, Arrow Trucking has
submitted thousands of fraudulent invoice reports to TAB totaling over Twenty Seven Million
Dollars ($27,000,000). Of this amount, TAB believes it has paid Arrow Trucking more than
Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000) in inflated invoices submitted by
Arrow Trucking to TAB. TAB’s losses will likely exceed this amount because it is highly
improbable all amounts actually due and owing Arrow Trucking will be collected.

63. Arrow Trucking created an elaborate system of maintaining its books and records
to perpetrate this fraud. Arrow Trucking recorded fraudulent accounts receivable invoices
ending in “A” which it would submit to TAB to receive advances. Arrow Trucking then created
invoices ending with the letter “B” in the actual and much lesser amounts which it then billed to
its customer. Arrow Trucking also altered information on it computers and created special
computer programs designed to conceal the fraudulent activity.

64. During 2009, Defendant Carol Pielsticker received money, property and things of
value from Arrow Trucking, including but not limited to payments that at times, averaged

approximately $10,000 per week (the “Carol Pielsticker Transfers™).
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65. During 2009, Defendant Doug Pielsticker purchased or caused to be purchased,
directly or beneficially, a new Maserati, a Bentley, and Land Rover motor vehicles, an expensive
car stereo system, a Cessna Citation airplane, personal expenses at Southern Hills Country Club,
with Arrow Trucking funds, and otherwise systemically looted Arrow Trucking with
unwarranted expense reimbursements, excessive salaries and benefits, and other payments to
support his lavish lifestyle (the “Doug Pielsticker Transfers”).

66. Upon information and belief, Arrow Trucking officers and employees were paid
extremely excessive and over-market salaries relative to their job duties.

First Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking
(Breach of A/R Agreement and Addendum)

67. TAB has fully performed all obligations under the A/R Agreement and the
Addendum (collectively the “Agreements™).

68. Arrow Trucking has breached the Agreements by, among other actions described
above, creating and then selling fraudulent accounts receivable to TAB for payment.

69. As a result of Arrow Trucking’s breaches of contract and express warranties,
TAB has suffered damages of not less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($12,500,000).

70.  TAB is entitled to foreclose its security interest in all Arrow Tucking accounts, to
collect all accounts owed to Arrow Trucking, and to apply all proceeds received against the total
amount due TAB.

Second Claim for Relief Against Piel Corporation
(Breach of Piel Guaranty Dated November 10, 2008)

71. Defendant Piel Corporation executed the Piel Guaranty dated November 11, 2008,

which guaranteed Arrow Trucking’s performance under the Agreements.
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72. TAB performed all of its obligations under the Agreements.

73.  As a result of Arrow Trucking’s cessation of operations in December 2009, all
amounts owed by Arrow Trucking to TAB became immediately due and payable under the Piel
Guaranty.

74.  Piel Corporation has breached the terms of the Piel Guaranty by failing to pay
TAB the monies owed to it pursuant to the Piel Guaranty.

75. As a result of Piel Corporation’s breach of the Piel Guaranty, TAB has suffered
damages of not less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

Third Claim for Relief Against Doug Pielsticker
(Breach of Guaranty Agreements Dated December 11, 2009 and December 18, 2009)

76. Defendant Doug Pielsticker executed the Doug Pielsticker Guaranty and the
Second Doug Pielsticker Guaranty (collectively the Doug Pielsticker Guaranties™) which
guaranteed repayment of the emergency advances to Arrow Trucking in an amount not to exceed

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).

77.  TAB provided Arrow Trucking with emergency advances totaling in excess of
$1,000,000.
78. On or about December 22, 2009, Arrow Trucking ceased operations making the

sum of $1,000,000 immediately due and payable under the Doug Pielsticker Guaranties.

79.  Defendant Doug Pielsticker has breached the terms of the Doug Pielsticker
Guaranties by failing to pay TAB the monies owed to it by Arrow Trucking.

80.  As a result of Defendant Doug Pielsticker’s breaches of the Doug Pielsticker

Guaranties, TAB has suffered damages of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).
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Fourth Claim for Relief Against Carol Pielsticker
(Breach of Carol Pielsticker Guaranty Agreement dated December 11, 2009)

81.  Defendant Carol Pielsticker executed the Carol Pielsticker Guaranty dated
December 11, 2009, which guaranteed repayment of an emergency advance of approximately

$749,000 to Arrow Trucking from TAB.

82. TAB provided Arrow Trucking with an emergency advance of approximately
$749,000.
83.  On or about December 22, 2009, Arrow Trucking ceased operations making the

advance immediately due and payable to TAB by Carol Pielsticker.

84. Carol Pielsticker has breached the terms of the Carol Pielsticker Guaranty by
failing to pay TAB the monies owed to TAB by Arrow Trucking.

85.  As a result of Carol Pielsticker’s breach of the Carol Pielsticker Guaranty, TAB
has suffered damages of not less than Seven Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Dollars ($749,000).

Fifth Claim for Relief Against Megan Corp.
(Breach of Megan Corp. Guaranty Agreement dated December 11, 2009)

86.  Defendant Megan Corp. executed the Megan Corp. Guaranty dated December 11,
2009, which guaranteed repayment of the emergency advance of $749,000 to Arrow Trucking
from TAB.

87. TAB provided Arrow Trucking with the emergency advance of $749,000.

88. On or about December 22, 2009, Arrow Trucking ceased operations making the
advance immediately due and payable to TAB by Megan Corp.

89.  Megan Corp has breached the terms of the Megan Corp. Guaranty by failing to

pay TAB the monies owed to TAB by Arrow Trucking.
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90. As a result of Megan Corp.’s breach of the Megan Corp. Guaranty, TAB has
suffered damages of not less than Seven Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Dollars ($749,000).

Sixth Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking,
Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry

(Fraud)

91. By entering into the Agreements, Arrow Trucking represented to TAB, among
other things, that it was a solvent going concern; that the financial statements it provided to TAB
were accurate; and that there were no pending or threatened lawsuits which might adversely
affect Arrow Trucking’s ability to perform its obligations under the Agreements.

92. By entering into the Piel Guaranty of November 10, 2008, Piel Corporation
guaranteed to TAB that the representations made in the Agreements were correct.

93. By signing the Agreements and the Piel Guaranty of November 10, 2008,
Defendant Doug Pielsticker atfirmed the representations made in the Agreements.

94, By submitting invoice reports to TAB as described above, Defendants Arrow
Trucking, Moore, Mowry and others represented that each invoice accurately reflected a bona-
fide obligation of an account debtor.

95.  Some or all of these representations were false when made, including, but not
limited to, the representations by Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel Corporation and Doug
Pielsticker that no material pending lawsuits had been filed at tirne time of execution of the
Agreements and the representations by Defendants Arrow Trucking, Moore, and Mowry that the
invoice reports submitted to TAB represented bona fide obligations of account debtors.

96. Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel Corporation, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore,
and Joseph Mowry knew the representations were false or misleading, or they made the

representations with reckless disregard for their truth or falsity.
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97.  The misrepresentations were made with the intent that TAB would rely on them.

98.  TAB reasonably relied on these representations and was thereby induced to enter
into and perform its obligations under the Agreements, including making accounts receivable
payments in excess of Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

99.  As aresult of the fraudulent representations of Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel
Corporation, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, Joseph Mowry and others, TAB has suffered
damages of not less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

Seventh Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking
(Unjust Enrichment)

100.  As set forth above, TAB conferred a benefit upon Arrow Trucking.
101.  Arrow Trucking had knowledge of the benefit.
102.  Under these circumstances, it is inequitable for Arrow Trucking to retain that
benefit without repayment.
Eighth Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking,

Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry
(Civil Conspiracy)

103. Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel Corporation, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore,
and Joseph Mowry (collectively the “Conspirators”) formed a combination of persons with the
purpose of committing bank fraud upon TAB.

104.  The Conspirators agreed to, among other things, intentionally defraud TAB.

105. From November 2008 through December 2009, the Conspirators made numerous
overt acts in furtherance of their conspiracy including, but not limited to, making false and
misleading representations in the Agreements, misrepresenting Arrow’s financial condition, and

submitting fraudulent invoices to collect over Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
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(812,500,000) of payments for non-existent accounts receivable, and locking out TAB’s access
to Arrow Trucking’s computer systems.
106. As a result of the Conspirators’ wrongful acts, TAB has been damaged in an
amount of not less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).
Ninth Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking,
Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry

(Violation Of The Federal Racketeer Influenced And Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c))

107.  Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel Corporation, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore,
and Joseph Mowry (the “RICO Defendants™) conducted and participated in an enterprise (the
“Enterprise”) whose activities affected interstate commercial lending activities with TAB and
other aspects of interstate commerce.

108.  The RICO Defendants agreed to, conducted, and participated in the conduct of the
Enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity for the unlawful purpose of
intentionally defrauding TAB.

109. In furtherance of their fraudulent scheme, the RICO Defendants committed
multiple related acts including, without limitation, bank fraud and wire fraud.

110.  Specifically, the RICO Defendants knowingly attempted to and executed a
scheme to defraud TAB by means of making false representations in the Agreements with TAB
and by submitting fraudulent invoices to TAB with the intent to defraud a federally-insured
financial institution.

111.  Further, the RICO Defendants used interstate wire communications in furtherance
of their scheme to defraud TAB by, among other things, electronically sending fraudulent
invoices and similar documents to TAB to induce it to issue purchase payments to Arrow

Trucking.
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112.  The RICO Defendants’ repeated acts of bank fraud and wire fraud constitute a
pattern of unlawful activity pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).

113. The RICO Defendants have directly and indirectly conducted and participated in
the conduct of the Enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activities in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

114.  As a result of the RICO Defendants’ conduct, TAB has suffered damages of not
less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

115, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1964, TAB is entitled to an award of treble damages.

Tenth Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking,

Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry
(RICO Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d))

116. As set forth above, the RICO Defendants agreed and conspired to violate
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

117. The RICO Defendants knew their actions were part of a pattern of racketeering
activity and agreed to the commission of those acts to further the scheme to defraud TAB.

118.  As a direct and proximate result of the RICO Defendants’ conspiracy and the acts
taken in furtherance of that conspiracy, TAB has been damaged in an amount of not less than
Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

119. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964, TAB is further entitled to an award of treble
damages.

Eleventh Claim for Relief Against Arrow Trucking,

Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry
(Utah Pattern of Unlawful Activity Act, Utah Code §8§ 76-10-1601, et seq.)

120.  Defendants Arrow Trucking, Piel Corporation, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore,

and Joseph Mowry (the “UPUAA Defendants™) conducted and participated in the Enterprise.
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121. The UPUAA Defendants agreed to, conducted, and participated in the conduct of
the Enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity for the unlawful purpose of
intentionally defrauding TAB.

122. In furtherance of their fraudulent scheme, as described above, the UPUAA
Defendants committed multiple related acts including, without limitation, theft, theft by
deception, defrauding a creditor, communications fraud, bank fraud, and wire fraud.

123.  The repeated acts of the UPUAA Defendants constitute a pattern of unlawful
activity pursuant to Utah Code §§ 76-6-404, 405, 511, 1801 and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1344.

124, The UPUAA Defendants have directly and indirectly conducted and participated
in the conduct of the Enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activities in violation
of Utah Code § 76-6-1601, et seq.

125. As a result of the UPUAA Defendants’ conduct, TAB has suffered damages of
not less than Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).

126.  Pusruant to UCA § 76-6-1605, TAB is further entitled to an award of double
damages.

Twelfth Claim for Relief Against Carol Pielsticker, Doug Pielsticker,

Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Good Faith)

127, Defendants Carol Pielsticker, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph
Moore were at all times officers or directors of Arrow Trucking.

128.  As described above, TAB is a creditor of Arrow Trucking.

129.  The directors and officers of Arrow Trucking each had a fiduciary duty of care,
fiduciary duty of good faith, and a fiduciary duty of loyalty to the sharcholders of Arrow

Trucking.
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130.  When Arrow Trucking became insolvent or was becoming insolvent, its directors
and officers owed fiduciary duties to the creditors of Arrow Trucking, including TAB.

131.  The directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties to TAB by, among other
things:

a. Failing to act in good faith to prevent the fraudulent and illegal activities
described above;

b. Making irrational and wasteful decisions as described above;

c. Failing to monitor and prevent the fraudulent and illegal activities as described
above; and

d. Providing and/or accepting executive compensation which exceeded the value of

services provided to Arrow Trucking and otherwise systematically looting Arrow
Trucking of money and other things of value.

132, As aresult of these breaches, TAB has suffered damages of not less than Twelve
Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000).
Thirteenth Claim for Relief Against Carol Pielsticker,

Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry
(Breach of Fiduciary Duty to Arrow Trucking’s Creditors)

133.  Defendants Carol Pielsticker, Doug Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph
Moore were at all times officers or directors of Arrow Trucking.

134.  With respect to this claim for relief alone, TAB brings this claim derivatively in
the right and for the benefit of Arrow Trucking to redress injuries suffered by Arrow Trucking
and its creditors, as a direct result of breaches of fiduciary duties by Arrow Trucking’s officers
and directors. With respect to this claim for relief alone, Arrow Trucking is named as a nominal
defendant solely in a derivative capacity.

135, This claim is not a collusive attempt to obtain federal juridiction where it may not

otherwise exist.

23




136. TAB will fairly represent the interests of Arrow Trucking in enforcing and
prosecuting its rights.

137. TAB has not made any demand upon the officers or directors of Arrow Trucking
because, among other reasons, such a demand would be futile and wasteful because the officers
and directors are so entrenched in the corporate wrongdoing that they would not be capable of
taking proper, unbiased and appropriate remedial measures.

138.  The directors and officers of Arrow Trucking each had a fiduciary duty of care, a
fiduciary duty of good faith, and a fiduciary duty of loyalty to the shareholders of Arrow
Trucking.

139.  When Arrow Trucking became insolvent or was becoming insolvent, the officers
and directors owed fiduciary duties to the creditors of Arrow Trucking, including TAB.

140.  The directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties to TAB by, among other

things:
a. Failing to act in good faith to prevent the fraudulent and illegal activities
described above;
b. Making irrational and wasteful decisions as described above;
c. Failing to monitor and prevent the fraudulent and illegal activities as described
above; and
d. Providing and/or accepting executive compensation which exceeded the value of
services provided to Arrow Trucking and otherwise systematically looting Arrow
Trucking of money and other things of value.
141.  As a result of these breaches, the creditors of Arrow Trucking have suffered
damages.
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Fourteenth Claim for Relief Against Carol Pielsticker and Doug Pielsticker
(Fraudulent Transfers)

142.  As described above, Arrow Trucking has, over the past year, made substantial
financial transfers to Defendants Carol Pielsticker and Doug Pielsticker, directly or to others for
their benefit.

143. The Carol Pielsticker Transfers and the Doug Pielsticker Transfers (collectively
the “Pielsticker Transfers”) were made with the actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud TAB
and other creditors.

144.  Arrow Trucking did not receive consideration for the Pielsticker Transfers or did
not receive consideration of a reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the Pielsticker
Transfers.

145. At the time of the Pielsticker Transfers, Arrow Trucking had or intended to incur
debts beyond its ability to pay as they became due or, in the alternative, Arrow Trucking was
engaged in business activities or transactions for which its remaining assets were unreasonably
small in relation to the business activities or transactions.

146.  On information and belief, Arrow Trucking was insolvent at the time the
Pielsticker Transfers were made or became insolvent as a result of the Pielsticker Transfers.

147.  As a result of the Pielsticker Transfers, TAB has been damaged and is entitled to
recover the value of the Pielsticker Transfers.

Fifteenth Claim for Relief Against Arrow Truck Real Estate Company
(Quicet Title)

148.  The failure of Defendant Arrow Truck Real Estate Company to return the notary
page of the Warranty Deed constitutes a breach of the agreement that induced TAB to make the

second “emergency advance” to Arrow Trucking on December 18, 2009.
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149.  While execution and delivery of the Warranty Deed are effective as between TAB
and Arrow Truck Real Estate Company, the absence of the notary precludes TAB from recording
the instrument with the County Clerk of Tulsa County, Oklahoma.

150. TAB is entitled to a declaration quieting title in and to the Real Property, free and
clear of any and all claim of right, title and interest by Arrow Truck Real Estate Company,
and/or any other person or entity claiming any right, title or interest by Arrow Truck Real Estate
Company, or any portion thereof, by or through Arrow Truck Real Estate Company.

Sixteenth Claim for Relief Against Carol Pielsticker and Doug Pielsticker
(Recovery of Unlawful Dividends)

151.  Arrow Trucking is an Okalahoma corporation which is, and has been at all times
relevant hereto, subject to Okla. Stat. tit. 18, §§ 1001, ez seq.

152.  The board of directors of an Oklahoma corporation, pursuant to Okla. Stat. tit. 18,
§ 1052, may declare and pay dividends only in accordance with the Oklahoma General
Corporations Act.

153, Pursuant to Okla. Stat. tit. 18, § 1049, an Oklahoma corporation may only pay
dividends either out of surplus, as defined and computed in accordance with Sections 1035 and
1079, or, if there is no surplus, out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is
declared, or the preceding fiscal year. If the capital of the corporation computed in accordance
with Okla. Stat. tit. 18, §§ 1035 and 1079 shall have been diminished by depreciation in the
value of its property, or by losses, or otherwise, to an amount less than the aggregate amount of
the capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a preference
upon the distribution of assets, the directors of the corporation shall not declare or pay out of the

net profits any dividends upon any shares of any classes of its capital stock until the deficiency in

26




the amount of capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a
preference upon the distribution of assets shall have been repaid.

154.  Pursuant to Okla. Stat. tit 18, § 1053(A), in the case of a willful or negligent
violation of the provisions of Section 1052 regarding payment of dividends, the directors under
whose administration the same may happen shall be jointly and severally liable, at any time
within six (6) years after paying the unlawful dividend, to, among other parties, the corporation’s
creditors, in the event of its dissolution or insolvency, to the full amount of the dividend
unlawfully paid.

155. The Pielsticker Transfers and payments with respect to equity to other
shareholders made during 2009 if any, are, among other things, unlawful dividends to Arrow
Trucking shareholders because they were negligently or willfully authorized and paid within six
(6) years, under circumstances where Arrow Tmcking was insolvent, and at times when Arrow
Trucking had no surplus or net profits or when Arrow Trucking had negative capital as defined
by Okla. Stat. tit. 18, § 1049.

156.  Arrow Trucking is insolvent,

157. TAB is a creditor of Arrow Trucking in an amount of not less than Twelve
Million Five Hundred Dollars ($12,500,000).

158.  TAB has been damaged by Defendants Carol Pielsticker and Doug Pielsticker in
the full amount of all unlawful dividends, including but not limited to the Pielsticker Transfers.

WHEREFORE, TAB prays as follows:

A. For judgment in personam against Arrow Trucking Co., Piel Corporation, Carol

Pielsticker, James Douglas Pielsticker, Jonathan Moore, and Joseph Mowry in the

amount of Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($12,500,000), such
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award to be trebled or doubled as appropriate, and for punitive damages, with
joint and several liability where appropriate;

For judgment in personam against Megan Corp. in the amount of Seven Hundred
Forty Nine Thousand Dollars ($749,000);

For judgment in personam vagainst Carol Pielsticker and James Douglas
Pielsticker in an amount for the recovery of fraudulent transfers plus an award of
punitive damages.

For an Order quieting title in the Real Property in favor of TAB, free and clear of
any and all claim of right, title and interest by Arrow Truck Real Estate Company,
and/or any other person or entity claiming any right, title or interest by Arrow
Truck Real Estate Company;

For an award of attorneys’ fees and costs in favor of TAB to the maximum extent
allowed by law;

For an award of pre-judgment and post-judgment interest in favor of TAB to the
maximum extent allowed by law; and

For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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Respectfully submitted,

UL (DN

Randall G. Vaughan, OBA 11554

Robert J. Winter, OBA 16754

Patrick R. Busby, OBA 21948

PRAY WALKER, P.C.

100 W. 5™ Street, Suite 900

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74103

Phone (918) 581-5573; (fax) (918) 581-5599

E-mails: RVaughan@PrayWalker.com
RWinter@PrayWalker.com
PBusby@PrayWalker.com

and

Jeffery Weston Shields (USB #A2948)

Rick L. Knuth (USB #A3625)

Andrew G. Deiss (USB #A7184)

Billie Jean Siddoway (USB #9710)

JONES WALDO HOLBROOK

& McDONOUGH, PC

170 South Main Street, Suite 1500

Salt Lake City, UT 84101

Phone (801) 521-3200

Emails: jshields@joneswaldo.com
rknuth@joneswaldo.com
adeiss@joneswaldo.com
bsiddoway(@joneswaldo.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff Transportation Alliance

Bank, Inc.
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DECLARATION

1, Boyd Hunter, state as follows:

L. I am the acting Chief Executive Officer of Plaintiff Transportation Alliance Bank,
Inc.

2. I have read the foregoing Complaint and know the factual content to be true and
correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief on behalf of Transportation Alliance
Bank, Inc.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing sfatements are true and correct.

Executed this 5 day of January, 2010.
\\/P /\ﬁ\

Boy Hunter . \/
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE P!
(Net Funds Employed)

THIS ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE PURCHASE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this
N(;wl:mbcr 10, 2008, by and between TRANSPORTATION ALLIANCE BANK INC. (“Purchaser”) and Arrow Trucking Co.
("Seller™.

o L. Definitions. The following terms used herein shall have the meanings as set forth immediately below. All
capitalized terms not herein defined shall have the meaning set forth in the Uniform Commercial Code:

“Acceptable Account™ ~ see Section 3 hereof.

“Agcount”™ — any and all Accounts as defined in the UCC, accounts receivable, any and all amounts owing to Seller
under any rental agreement or lease, payments on construction contracts, promissory notes or on any other indebtedness, any
rights to payment customarily or for accounting purposes classificd as accounts receivable, and all rights to payment, proceeds or
distributions under any contract of Seller, presently existing or hereafter created, and all proceeds thereof.

“Account Debior” ~ shall mesn any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust or any other
entity or organization obligated for payment of any Account.

“Avoidance Claim™ — any claim that any payment received by Purchaser from or for the account of an Account Debtor
15 an impugned transaction under any bankruptey, insolvency, preference, corporate or other similar laws.

“Balance Subject to Discount Fee” — the cumulative unpaid balance of the Purchase Price of all outstanding and
unclosed Purchased Accounts minus the balance in the Reserve Account.

“Clgarance Days” — one (1) business day for checks issued by financial institutions located in Utah, and for clectronic
funds transfers; and three (3) business days for checks issued by financial institutions not located in Utah, and for any other forms
of payment.

“Closed" — a Purchased Account is closed upon the first to oceur of (i) receipt of full payment by Purchaser; (ii) the
unpaid Face Amount has been ¢harged to the Reserve Account by Purchaser pursuant fo the terms hercof; or (iif) if the unpaid
Face Amount is two percent (2%) or less of the original Face Amount, or if the original Face Amount was less than 3500 then if
any payment is reecived on the Purchased Account that is less than 100%, then said Purchased Account shall be charged to the
Reserve Account by Purchaser and the Purchased Account shall be closed. The closure of any Purchased Account by Purchaser
shall not be construed so as to relieve Seller of any of its Obligations provided herein.

“Collateral” — any collateral now or hercafler described in any financing statement, continuation statement, financing
change statement, amendment or similar filing or registration statement filed against Seller naming Purchaser as the secured
party, and all of Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under the following property, now owned or hereafler acquired:

(i) AHl Accounts {including any Exclusions and any Accounts purchased by Purchascr hereunder and repurchased by
Seller), Chattel paper, General intangibles (including, but not limited to, tax refunds, registered and unregistered
patents, trademarks, service marks, copyrights, trade names, trade secrets, customer lists and licenses), Documents,
Instruments. securities, deposit accounts, certificates of deposit, and all rights of Seller as a seller of Goods, including
rights of reclamation, replevin and stoppage in transit; (i) All Goods, including, but not limited to, all Inventory,
wherever located; (iii) All Equipment and fixtures, wherever located, and all additions, substitutions, replacements
(including spare parts), and accessions thereof and thereto; (iv) All books and records relating to all of the foregoing
property and interests in propeny, including, without limitation, all computer programs, printed output and computer
readable data in the possession or control of the Seller, any computer service burcau or other third party; (v) All
investment property; and (vi) All Proceeds of the forcgoing, including but not limifed to, all insurance proceeds, all
claims against third parties for loss or destruction of or damage to any of the foregoing, and all income from the lease
or rental ol any of the foregoing.

“Discount Fee Rate™ — a per diem rate equal to the rate set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by
this reference.

“Dispatch Data” ~ Electronic information in Buyer’s dispatch system, including but not limited to, dispatch or order
nuimber, the name and address of the Account Debior, the pick-up and delivery dates, the identification numbers of the truck and
trailer that carried the shipment, the name of the driver of the truck, the name and address of the consignee of the shipment, the
shipment tracking data, the check call data, the Fuel Card Usage Information, the weight of the shipment, the description and
picce counts of the product shipped.

“Early_Termination Fee” — the Minimum Monthly Fee, for each month (prorated for partial months) that the
termination date requested by Seller precedes the termination date of this Agreement as set {orth in Section 18 hereof.
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“Eligi " —an Acceptable Account, that is suitable for purchase as determined by Purchaser in the excrcise of
Purchaser’s sole and absolute discretion and judgment.

“Events of Default” — see Section 16 hereof,
“Exclusions” - see Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

i “Face Amount” — the total amount due specified on an Account’s invoice, at the time of Purchase, less any finance
charges included therein,

“Fuel Card Usage Infogmation™ ~ Electronic information obtained by Purchaser from Buyer’s transactions using a fuel
card issued by Purchaser, including but not limited to, date of the transaction, trip numbers, fueling location, amount of fuel
purchased, dollar amount of the transaction; the identification numbers of Buyer's truck and trailer for which the fuel is
purchased and odometer readings from the truck.

“Guarantor” — the Person(s) guaranteeing the payment and performance of the Obligations, as arc set forth in Exhibit
A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

“Late Charge™ — see Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated hercin by this reference.

“Late Pavment Date™ — the date which is ninety days from the invoice date or any other such time period as deemed
necessary or appropriate by Purchaser,

“Maximum Amount” — sec Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference or such other amount as
Purchascr shall deem appropriate in its sole diseretion.

“Minimum Monthly Fee” — see Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

“Misdirected Payment Fee” — fiftecn percent (15%) of the amount of any payment on account of a Purchased Account
which has been received by Seller and not delivered in kind to Purchaser on the next business day following the date of receipt by
Seller.

“Notation™ — “This account has been assigned and is payable dircetly to Transportation Alliance Bank Ine., located at
4185 Harrison Blvd., Suite 200, Ogden, Utah 84403, to whom notice of any claim or dispute must be advised, either in writing or
by telephone to (801) 334-4800. Payments should be made payable to Transportation Alliance Bank Inc. and should be mailed to
‘Transportation Alliance Bank Inc., P.O. Box 150290, Ogden, Utah 84403.9902."

“Obligation™ — all present and future obligations owing by Seller to Purchaser whether or not for the payment of
money, whether or not evidenced by any note or other instrument, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to
become due, joint or several, primary or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, sccured or unsecured, original or rencwed or
extended, whether arising before, during or after the commencement of any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar procceding in
which Seller is a debtor or an insolvent debtor, including but not limited to any obligations arising pursuant to letters of credit or
acceplance transactions or any other financial accommodations.

“Parties” — Seller and Purchaser.

“Person™ ~ an individual, corporation, limited lisbility company, partnership, trust or any other legal entity or
organization in which Seller has an interest,

“Purchased Accounts™ — Accounts purchased hereunder which have not been Repurchased.

“Purchased Account Administration Fee” - the initial administration fee charged by Purchaser to Seller for each
Account purchased by Purchaser equal to the Face Amount of each Purchased Account multiplied by the Purchased Account
Administration Fec Percentage.

“Purchased Account Administration Fee Percentage” — see Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated hercin by this

reference.

“Purchase Date” — the date on which Seller has been advised in writing that Purchaser has agreed to purchase an
Account,

“Purchase Price™ - the Face Amount of the Purchased Account less the Purchased Account Administration Fee.

“Repurchased” — subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, an Account has been repurchased when Seller has
paid to Purchaser the then unpaid Face Amount upon demand by Purchaser under the terms hereof.
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